
1 

 

 CLAY COUNTY DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY  

REGULAR SCHEDULED PUBLIC MEETING 

1845 TOWN CENTER BLVD, STE 410, FLEMING ISLAND, FLORIDA 

April 20, 2022 

 
  

AGENDA 

CHAIR                KEITH WARD 

VICE-CHAIR              DANIEL VALLENCOURT 

TREASURER              TINA CLARY 

SECRETARY              CHEREESE STEWART 
 

               

1) Welcome/Call to Order 4:00 pm                                                     Keith Ward 

 

2) Roll Call Josh Cockrell 

 

3) Invocation & Pledge Bruce Butler 

 

4) Comments from the Public Keith Ward 

 

5) Secretary’s Report Chereese Stewart 

Approval of March 16, 2022 Minutes 

 

6) Treasurer’s Report  Tina Clary 

March 2022 Financials 

 

7) Clay EDC Report Crawford Powell 

 

8) Chair’s Report  Keith Ward 

Clay Chamber 

 

9) Executive Director’s Report Josh Cockrell 

Grants Update 

 

10) Attorney’s Report April Scott 

 

11) Old Business/New Business/Board Comments Keith Ward 

College Drive Property 

  

12) Adjournment Keith Ward 

 

 

 

 

 

 



2 

 

 

Dates of Upcoming CCDA Meetings:   

 

May 18, 2022 

June 15, 2022 

July 20, 2022 

August 17, 2022 

September 21, 2022 

 

 

TIME:          4:00 PM 

 

LOCATION:  Clay County Chamber of Commerce  

      Board Room 

      1845 Town Center Blvd 

      STE 410 

      Fleming Island, FL 32003 

    

 

NOTE:  Items 5 through 11 above, are subject to discussion, consideration, and action by 

the Board of the Clay County Development Authority.   

 

 

PUBLIC COMMENTS:  Pursuant to F.S. s. 286.0114 (2021) [, and Clay County 

Development Authority policy], speakers intending to offer public comment must complete a 

provided speaker’s card, turn in the same to the recording secretary for the public meeting, 

and may address the Board when recognized by the Chair of the meeting with their public 

comments for a period of not more than three (3) minutes.  The Chair of the meeting has 

the authority and discretion to make special provisions for a group or faction 

spokesperson.  The Chair of the meeting has all requisite authority and discretion to 

maintain orderly conduct or proper decorum of the public meeting.  

 



CLAY COUNTY DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 
REGULAR SCHEDULED PUBLIC MEETING 

MINUTES 
 

March 16, 2022 
 

Present: Keith Ward, Daniel Vallencourt, Jim Horne, Chereese Stewart, Tina Clary, and Jim 
Horne. 
 
Absent: Joelle Marquis, Amy Pope Wells, and Bruce Butler. 
 
Staff: Josh Cockrell and Ashton Scott (Legal Counsel) 
 
Guests: Stephen Nebrat and Anthony Walsh 
 
Call to Order: Keith Ward called the Clay County Development Authority (“CCDA”) Public 
Meeting to order at 4:15 PM.  
 
Invocation: Keith Ward provided the invocation and Pledge of Allegiance.  
 
Comments from the Public: None.  
 
Secretary’s Report 
Josh Cockrell presented the meeting minutes from the February meeting. Adjustments to 
be made in previous minutes since Chereese Stewart was absent due to Clay Day. Daniel 
Vallencourt approved.  Jim Horne seconded the motion. Motion approved.   
 
Treasurer’s Report 
Tina Clary provided the Treasurer's report. Daniel Vallencourt motioned to approve. Jim 
Horne seconded the motion. 
 
Executive Director’s Report 
Josh Cockrell reported the grant reimbursements have been received and that an 
additional new grant is upcoming in May. Josh Cockrell plans to start working on May 
grant next week. 
   
Chair’s Report 
Keith Ward did not have anything to report.  
 
 
New/Old Business  
Stephen Nebrat presented the two offers that were received for the purchase of the 
College Drive properties. Stephen Nebrat suggested the price of the property will most 
likely not be an issue, however timing may be. Keith Ward added this is the first CCDA 
project like its kind in years, which is a step in the right direction for the organization. 
Group discussion over the timeline of potential offers and what to expect if the buyer tries 



to back out. Stephen Nebrat suggested CCDA should structure the property that after 120 
days the escrow account that anything the buyer purchases, automatically gets added on. 
 
Stephen Nebrat presented the second offer. Group discussion favored the first. Daniel 
Vallencourt questioned what would CCDA’s next steps be pursuing an offer? April Scott 
added CCDA will have to vote on the offers to proceed. Keith Ward motioned to offer the 
first option Stephen Nebrat presented. Jim Horne approved, Tina Clary seconded the 
motion. Motion approved. 
 
Daniel Vallencourt suggested for the next meeting to gear where CCDA’s goals will be for 
the future, working towards Jim Horne’s previous comments to maximize project size and 
impact. Daniel Vallencourt suggested pursuing an airport project, which included group 
discussion on positive impacts it could potentially bring to the community.  
 
Audit Report 
Anthony Walsh presented the CCDA audit. Anthony Walsh summarized the report that 
there were no significant findings or issues to bring to the board's attention for internal 
control and compliance, as well as the management letter. Anthony Walsh presented the 
independent account examination report which also had no significant findings. Keith 
Ward motion for approval. Jim Horne approved, Daniel Vallencourt seconded the 
motion. Motion approved. 
 
 
Attorney’s Report 
Ashton Scott had nothing to report. 
 
Adjourned: 5:17 PM 
 



 

 

 

  

ACCOUNTANTS’ COMPILATION REPORT 

To the Board of Directors of 
Clay County Development Authority 
Fleming Island, FL 
 

Management is responsible for the accompanying government-wide balance sheets of Clay 
County Development Authority (a governmental organization) as of March 31, 2022 and 2021, 
and the related statements of revenues and expenses for the one month and six months then 
ended which collectively comprise the Authority’s financial statements in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. We have performed a 
compilation engagement in accordance with Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review 
Services promulgated by the Accounting and Review Services Committee of the AICPA. We did 
not audit or review the financial statements nor were we required to perform any procedures to 
verify the accuracy or completeness of the information provided by management. We do not 
express an opinion, a conclusion, nor provide any form of assurance on these financial statements. 

Management has elected to omit the management discussion and analysis, the governmental 
fund financial statements and substantially all the disclosures required by accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America. If the management discussion and analysis 
and governmental fund financial statements and omitted disclosures were included in the financial 
statements, they might influence the user’s conclusions about the Authority’s financial position, 
results of operations, and cash flows. Accordingly, the financial statements are not designed for 
those who are not informed about such matters. 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that budget to 
actual statements for the one month and six months ending March 31, 2022 be presented to 
supplement the financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial 
statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be 
an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate 
operational, economic, or historical context. This information is the representation of 
management. This information was subject to our compilation engagement; however, we have 
not audited or reviewed the required supplementary information and, accordingly, do not express 
an opinion, a conclusion, nor provide any form of assurance on such information. 

We are not independent with respect to the Clay County Development Authority. 

 
April 19, 2022 



Read Accountants Compilation Report



Read Accountants Compilation Report



Read Accountants Compilation Report



Read Accountants Compilation Report



Read Accountants Compilation Report



Read Accountants Compilation Report



AGREEMENT FOR PURCHASE AND SALE 

THIS AGREEMENT is entered into on the 6 day of April , 2022 (the "Effective Date") by and 
between CLAY COUNTY DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY, a public body corporate and politic of 
the State of Florida ("Seller") and PALM ACQUISITIONS, LLC, a New Jersey limited liability 
company ("Buyer"). 

BACKGROUND: 

Seller is the owner of several parcels of land bearing parcel numbers ]5 -04<?.5-008218 .()03 .. 00. 
3 5-04-25-00822 0-00 3 -00. 3 5-04-25-008219-000-00, 3 5-04-25-008220-000-00, 35-04-25-008220-001-00, 
35-04-25-008220-002-00, 35-04-25-008220-004-00, and 35-04-25-008220-005-00, which together
contain approximately 4.68 acres, and are situated in the Southeast ¼ of the Northwest ¼ of Section 35,
Township 4 South, Range 25 East, Clay County, Florida, as depicted in the Map prepared by -l-:Jhtttd----
1:iklml & Associates, Inc. dated July 24, 2021, attached hereto as Exhibit A, and as described in metes
and bounds on Exhibit B (the "Property"). The parties to this Agreement agree to the sale and purchase
of the Property on the terms and conditions which are set forth herein.

In consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements set forth herein and other good and 
valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto 
hereby covenant and agree as follows. 

AGREEMENT: 

1. Purchase and Sale.

Subject to all of the terms and conditions of this Agreement, the Seller will sell to the Buyer and 
the Buyer will purchase from the Seller the Property, together with all appurtenances, rights, easements, 
rights of way, permits, licenses and approvals incident or appurtenant thereto. 

2. Purchase Pr'ice and Payment.

(a) The purchase price to be paid by the Buyer to the Seller for the Property shall be
ONE MILLION FIVE HUNDRED TWENTY FIVE THOUSAND DOLLARS ($1,525,000.00) 
(the "Purchase Price"), subject to adjustments and prorations as set forth in this Agreement. 

(b) Within five (5) business days after the Effective Date of this Agreement, Buyer
shall deliYer £IF.TEEN THOUSAND ($15,000.00) (th D po it') o a titl in uranc a ency 
selected by I hi) 1:·r ... clk:r ("Escrow Agent"). The Deposit will be held in escrow by Escrow Agent 
until Closing or sooner termination of this Agreement in an interest-bearing account in a financial 
institution whose deposits are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation. All interest 
earned thereon shall be deemed to constitute additional deposits hereunder and become part of the 
Deposit. Provided that Seller is not then in default under this Agreement, the Deposit f,including any 
additional deposit under the terms of this Agreementf shall be non-refundable to Buyer upon the 
expiration of the Due Diligence Period (as defined in Section 3) t4€-----Qeposit, incl�ra+
depn.•,it, •;hnll he- non refundable and shall be applied against the Purchase Price at Closing; provided 

1 
F:\CF\Legacy Developers\PSA doc 




























	April 20 Board Packet.pdf
	Agenda CCDA April 2022.pdf
	CCDA Minutes 3.16.22.pdf

	Accounting reports for March 2022 - CCDA.pdf
	April 20 Board Packet
	PSA College Dr- Executed.pdf




